RECEIVED

Sep 07 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001144

Kierra Johnson,.....Appellant,

v.

Greenville County, Greater Greenville Sanitation District, the South Carolina
Department of Transportation, American Southern Insurance Company, and the
State Fiscal Accountability Authority,.....Defendants,

Of whom American Southern Insurance Company is the.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/ Joshua T. Hawkins

Joshua T. Hawkins, S.C. Bar #78470
Helena L. Jedziniak, S.C. Bar #100825
Hawkins & Jedziniak, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE FACT THAT COMPANIES ENGAGE IN THE BUSINESS OF INSURANCE MAKES THEM IMMUNE FROM LAWSUITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant filed suit on April 7, 2020, against several defendants and asserted claims against American Southern for negligence, recklessness, negligent hiring, and abuse of process. The appellant did not assert any cause of action for improper claims practices against American Southern. Nevertheless, American Southern filed a motion to dismiss based upon its assertion that the appellant had filed an improper claims practice cause of action. The Circuit Court heard that motion July 24, 2020. The Circuit Court entered a Form 4¹ order later that day granting American Southern's motion to dismiss and entered a formal order memorializing that ruling on August 3, 2020. The appellant filed a Rule 59(e) motion, which the Circuit Court denied on August 11, 2020. The appellant timely filed a notice of appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a motion to dismiss should be granted is a question of law. Questions of law are decided *de novo*, meaning that “a reviewing court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Personal Care, Inc. v. Theo*, 426 S.C. 78 S.E.2d 281 (Ct. App. 2019). In reviewing the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a reviewing court applies the same rules of construction that it uses in interpreting statutes. *Green v. Lewis Truck Lines, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 303 (1994). “If the rule’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary, and the stated meaning should be enforced.” *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617 (2003).

¹ American Southern, the third-party administrator for the State Fiscal Accountability Authority, improperly attempted to assert a counterclaim under the Frivolous Proceedings Act. The Court granted the appellant’s motion to dismiss the counterclaim in the Form 4, as there is no cause of action for frivolous proceedings. Because the cause of action was dismissed, the appellant could have made a frivolous proceedings motion against American Southern but chose not to do so.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On January 7, 2020, Kierra Johnson was walking on a sidewalk toward a bus stop on White Horse Road in Greenville, South Carolina when she was struck by a Greater Greenville Sanitation District truck. After striking the appellant, the truck dragged her down the road for a significant distance. As a result of this incident, Johnson sustained severe facial injuries, including broken teeth and potentially permanent scarring/disfigurement.² The truck that hit Johnson was insured by the State Fiscal Accountability Authority, which uses Southern American Insurance Company as a third-party administrator to handle its claims. There is at least some indication that the driver of the truck and one or more defendants had knowledge of the defect that caused the malfunction and resulted in the collision. A trooper with the South Carolina Highway Patrol generated a collision report, which was available for review by the appellant and American Southern, among others.

The appellant attempted to avoid litigation by making a pre-suit demand within the amount allowed by the Tort Claims Act.³ On January 28, 2020, American Southern responded to that demand with a letter that stated, in part:

Our investigation revealed that the leaf vacuum hose that was connected to our insured's truck on the passenger side detached from the small hook holding it in place. We were advised this caused the leaf vacuum hose to make contact with your client waking (sic) as a pedestrian going northbound on the sidewalk of U.S. 25.

Despite acknowledging that a malfunction caused the collision that injured the appellant, American Southern denied liability⁴ and forced the appellant to file suit on April 7, 2020. American Southern

² Photographs of the appellant's injuries are included in the complaint. The Circuit Court denied the South Carolina Department of Transportation's motion to strike the photographs.

³ The Tort Claims Act applies to the insured, Greater Greenville Sanitation District.

⁴ Presumably, American Southern hired legal counsel, which raised several defenses in its insured's answer denying liability.

filed a motion to dismiss, citing cases addressing the Improper Claims Practices Act, even though the appellant did not bring a claim pursuant to that statute and even though American Southern is not actually the insurer of the truck that caused the injury. The Circuit Court granted the motion to dismiss. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENTS

I. South Carolina law requires denial of a motion to dismiss where a plaintiff has stated a cause of action for which relief can be granted.

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) allows a defendant to move to dismiss an action where a plaintiff has failed to set forth sufficient facts to constitute a cause of action. A court should deny a defendant's motion to dismiss, if, upon an examination of the pleadings, "the facts alleged, and inferences therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory." *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). A court must weigh not only facts, but also *inferences* in the nonmoving party's favor when considering a motion to dismiss. *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct. App. 1995). A motion to dismiss "cannot be sustained if facts alleged in the complaint and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case." *Blandon v. Coleman*, 285 S.C. 472, 330 S.E.2d 298 (1985); and *Glass v. Glass*, 276 S.C. 625, 281 S.E.2d 221 (1981).

In determining whether to grant a motion to dismiss, "the trial court must base its ruling solely upon allegations set forth on the face of the complaint." *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995) citing *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999). "If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court," Rule 12, *SCRCP*, dictates that "the motion shall be treated as one for

summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.”

There is no case law or statute that makes an insurer immune from suit solely because it is an insurer. Even if there were, such law would have no bearing on the matters before this Court. By its own admission, American Southern is not an insurer, but rather a third-party administrator. American Southern’s role in some respect is similar to that of a private investigator, who obviously can be sued for tortious conduct. (See also *Hidden Dangers of Using Private Investigators*, 17 S. Carolina Lawyer 18, 20-1 (2005) and *Charleston v. Young Clement Rivers & Tinsdale, LLP*, 359 S.C. 635 (Ct.App. 1993)). In order to survive a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b), therefore, the appellant need only met the standard outlined above.

- a. The appellant stated a valid cause of action for negligence against the respondent and, as a result, the Circuit Court should not have dismissed the respondent from the action.**

In order to successfully plead a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: “the following three elements: (1) a duty of care owed by defendant to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach of duty.” *Bloom v. Ravoira*, 529 S.E.2d 710 (S.C. 2000). In her complaint, the appellant clearly outlines the duties of care owed to her by each defendant, the breaches of those duties by negligent acts and/or omissions, and the damages that the appellant sustained as a proximate cause of each defendant’s conduct. With respect to the respondent, the appellant alleged that the respondent owed duties of care to “fairly evaluate claims, especially in cases of clear liability,” “avoid causing financially vulnerable individuals such as the plaintiff to file suits and incur expenses unnecessarily,” and to “avoid causing the plaintiff unnecessary delay in being made whole after she was injured,” among

others (R. p. 17, ¶ 33). The appellant alleged that the respondent breached these duties by “failing to fairly evaluate claims, especially in cases of clear liability” and “in causing the plaintiff to needlessly incur the costs associated with litigation,” (R. p. 17, ¶ 35). The appellant then enumerated multiple damages that she sustained as a result of this incident, and which she alleges were proximately caused by the respondent’s breaches of duties (R. p. 18, ¶ 36). If taken as true, these allegations and the inferences drawn therefrom would allow the appellant to recover against the respondent. As a result, based solely upon the pleadings, the Circuit Court should have denied the respondent’s motion to dismiss with respect to the appellant’s negligence cause of action.

b. The appellant stated a valid cause of action for abuse of process against the respondent and, as a result, the Circuit Court should not have dismissed the respondent from the action.

Under South Carolina law, “[t]he abuse of process tort provides a remedy for one damaged by another’s perversion of a legal procedure for a purpose not intended by the procedure.” *Food Lion v. United Food & Commercial*, 351 S.C. 65, 567 S.E. 2d 251 (Ct. App. 2002). Although the term “process” has not been clearly defined, South Carolina courts acknowledge that the term, “as it pertains to the abuse of process tort, embraces the full range of activities and procedures attendant to litigation.” *Food Lion* at 70 citing *Hart v. O’Malley*, 436 Pa. Super. 151, 647 A.2d 542, 551 (Pa. Super.Ct.1994) and *Nienstedt v. Wetzel*, 133 Ariz. 348, 651 P.2d 876, 880 (Ariz.App.1982). This broad definition of process has allowed plaintiffs to assert abuse of process claims under a variety of circumstances, including: an appeal of a trial court’s judgment (*Cisson v. Pickens Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 186 S.E.2d (1972)); wrongful intervention (*Ibid.*); an appeal of a decision of a Board of Adjustment (*LaMotte v. Punch Line of Columbia, Inc.*, 370 S.E.2d 711 (1988)); improper venue (*Mercury Marine Division of Brunswick Corp. v. Costa*, 342 S.E.2d 632

(Ct.App. 1986)); filing suit after voluntary dismissal (*Ibid.*); and filing a complaint with an administrative agency (*Hainer v. American Medical Internat'l, Inc.*, 465 S.E.2d 112 (Ct.App. 1995)).

Just American Southern's status as a third-party administrator does not make it immune to suits arising out of negligence, similarly, it does not prevent injured parties from bringing claims for abuse of process. An insurer and third-party administrator are allowed to investigate. However, that process is not designed for the denial of virtually all claims, especially those in which liability is patently clear. In this case, the Circuit Court interpreted the term "process" more narrowly than the law allows in its August 3, 2020 order when it ruled "a claim for abuse of process against a third-party insurer must fail as the Plaintiff cannot establish that Defendant ASIC caused any process to issue or improperly used process after it had been issued," citing *Rycroft v. Gaddy*, 314 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1984)⁵(August 3, 2020 Order).

In order to survive a motion to dismiss an abuse of process claim, a plaintiff need only allege "1) an 'ulterior purpose' and 2) a 'willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceeding.'" *Food Lion v. United Food & Commercial*, 567 S.E.2d 251 (Ct. App. 2002); *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 206, 153 S.E.2d 693 (1967); *Whitfield Const. Co. v. Bank of Tokyo Trust Co.*, 338 S.C. 207, 525 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 1999). In her complaint, the appellant alleged both (R. p. 19, ¶ 44-47), as well as that these actions proximately caused the appellant's damages (R. p. 20, ¶ 48). The appellant also supported this cause of action with further allegations, including the following: "SFAA uses American Southern to further complicate the processing of claims and to deny the vast majority of all claims made" (R. p. 13, ¶

⁵ [Rycroft v. Gaddy, 281 S.C. 119, 125, 314 S.E.2d 39, 44 \(Ct.App.1984\)](#) held there was no ulterior purpose where defendants' use of subpoena to obtain bank records was for the "entirely legitimate purpose" of gathering evidence.)

19); “both American Southern and SFAA systematically collude and abuse the legal process by forcing injured people to file lawsuits in cases where lawsuits should not be necessary” (R. p. 14, ¶ 21); and “SFAA and American Southern caused additional delay and also caused the plaintiff to incur filings fees and other legal costs” (R. p. 14, ¶ 22). Because the appellant properly pleaded a cause of action for abuse of process against the respondent, the Circuit Court erred in granting the respondent’s motion to dismiss.

II. The Plain Language of the Improper Claims Practices Act provides a cause of action for third parties.

Section 38-59-20 of the South Carolina Code of Laws provides:

Any of the following acts by an insurer doing accident and health insurance, property insurance, casualty insurance, surety insurance, marine insurance, or title insurance business, if committed without just cause and performed with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice, constitutes improper claim practices:

(1) Knowingly misrepresenting to insureds **or third-party claimants** pertinent facts or policy provisions relating to coverages at issue or providing deceptive or misleading information with respect to coverages (emphasis added).

(2) Failing to acknowledge with reasonable promptness pertinent communications with respect to claims arising under its policies, including third-party claims arising under liability insurance policies.

(3) Failing to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and settlement of claims, including third-party liability claims, arising under its policies.

(4) Not attempting in good faith to effect prompt, fair, and equitable settlement of claims, including third-party liability claims, submitted to it in which liability has become reasonably clear.

(5) Compelling policyholders or claimants, **including third-party claimants** under liability policies, **to institute suits** to recover amounts reasonably due or payable with respect to claims arising under its policies by offering substantially less than the amounts

ultimately recovered through suits brought by the claimants or through settlements with their attorneys employed as the result of the inability of the claimants to effect reasonable settlements with the insurers (emphasis added).

(6) Offering to settle claims, including third-party liability claims, for an amount less than the amount otherwise reasonably due or payable based upon the possibility or probability that the policyholder or claimant would be required to incur attorneys' fees to recover the amount reasonably due or payable.

(7) Invoking or threatening to invoke policy defenses or to rescind the policy as of its inception, not in good faith and with a reasonable expectation of prevailing with respect to the policy defense or attempted rescission, but for the primary purpose of discouraging or reducing a claim, including a third-party liability claim.

(8) Any other practice which constitutes an unreasonable delay in paying or an **unreasonable failure to pay or settle in full claims, including third-party liability claims**, arising under coverages provided by its policies (emphasis added).

As interpreted by South Carolina courts, the Improper Claims Act does not allow a person injured by a tortfeasor's negligence to sue the insurer of the tortfeasor.⁶ *Gaskins v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co.*, 343 S.C. 666, 541 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 2000). The appellant seeks to change the law concerning improper claims practices because the plain language of the statute allows a plaintiff to sue an insurer directly and because public policy favors protecting individuals treated unfairly by insurance companies with unlimited resources.

First, the plain language of Section 38-59-20 provides for a private cause of action. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." *Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd.*, 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993);

⁶ Currently, South Carolina does not recognize a private cause of action for improper claims practices, even though the plain language of the statute unambiguously provides one. The appellant preserved this issue for appeal, because the law should be modified to conform with the plain language of the statute.

Hodges v. Rainey, 533 S.E.2d 578 (2000). Indeed, if the legislature did not intend to create a private cause of action for improper claims practices, then it is unclear why it enacted this legislation at all. While the statute provides for a hearing, an individual harmed by insurance companies is not always afforded the right to a hearing. If individuals harmed by insurance companies are not entitled to hearings and they are not allowed to file suit against those companies, then the statute serves no purpose. The statute essentially has no meaning, which is the result of an interpretation antithetical to the rules of statutory interpretation.

Second, public policy supports protecting people from the improper actions of insurance companies. Both insureds and individuals harmed by insureds' tortious conduct need remedies that motivate insurance companies to act in good faith. The appellant is one such individual. In this case, the State Fiscal Accountability Authority, through American Southern, denied a claim and refused to tender payment to a financially vulnerable individual harmed by the insured's gross negligence. In doing so, the insurer "[k]nowingly misrepresent[ed] to [a] third-party claimant pertinent facts... [and were] deceptive... with respect to coverages." American Southern knew that liability was clear, knew that the appellant sustained extensive injuries, and knew that the appellant's pre-suit demand was within the amount allowed by law. The respondent nevertheless denied liability. As a result, the appellant was forced to incur additional expense by filing suit to recover her damages.

Equity also supports extending the interpretation of the Improper Claims Act to allow what its plain language provides – that injured third parties be allowed to hold insurers accountable. It is fundamentally unfair to injured individuals to allow insurers to achieve unjust results by relying upon cases such as *Kleckley v. Northwestern Nat. Cas. Co.*, 526 S.E.2d 218 (2000), *Swinton v. Chubb & Son, Inc.*, 320 S.E.2d 495 (Ct. App. 1984), and *Gaskins v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas.*,

541 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 2000). South Carolina Courts have made exceptions to precedents when required by equity. *Ateyeh v. Volkswagen of Florence, Inc.*, 288 S.C. 101, 341 S.E. 2d 378 (1986). Such a need exists in this case, as the respondent otherwise faces no consequences for its improper treatment of the appellant.

It should not be disputed by anyone, including the respondent, that the Improper Claims Act exists to provide checks on insurers' dealings with insureds and injured third parties. To interpret the statute as providing only administrative penalties misconstrues the legislative intent to provide protection to injured parties. Further, it is clear that the Improper Claims Practices Act grants rights to injured third parties, as the statute directly addresses what an insurer can and cannot do with respect to third-party claimants, such as the appellant. In order to give effect to legislative intent to prevent the improper handling of claims by insureds, this Court should find that insureds and the third parties that they injure through tortious conduct have the right to bring claims against insurers pursuant to the Improper Claims Practices Act.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the appellant respectfully requests the Court reverse the Circuit Court's dismissal of the appellant's claims against American Southern Insurance Company.