RECEIVED

Jun 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001144
Case No. 2020-CP-23-2023

Kierra Johnson, Appellant,

v.

Greenville County, Greater Greenville Sanitation District, the
South Carolina Department of Transportation, American
Southern Insurance Company, and the State Fiscal
Accountability Authority Defendants,

Of which American Southern Insurance Company is, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Andrew F. Lindemann
James M. Davis, Jr.
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260

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

ARGUMENTS

The trial court dismissed the Appellant's causes of action against the Respondent American Southern Insurance Company on three separate and independent grounds. First, the trial court ruled that "South Carolina law does not allow a direct action against a third party insurer by a tort claimant." (Order, p. 1). Second, the trial court determined that a third-party claimant "lacks standing to commence any action seeking any relief against ASIC." (Order, p. 2). Finally, as to the cause of action for abuse of process, the trial found that no claim could be asserted against a third-party insurer because the Appellant "cannot establish that Defendant ASIC caused any process to issue or improperly used process after it had been issued." (Order, p. 3). Each of those rulings was correctly decided and provides an independent basis for the dismissal of the Appellant's Complaint against American Southern.³

³ In her Statement of Issues on Appeal, the Appellant presents a single issue for appeal stated as follows: "Whether the fact that companies engage in the business of insurance makes them immune from lawsuits." *See*, Appellant's Brief, p. 1. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, states: "A statement of each of the issues presented for review. The statement shall be concise and direct as to each issue, and may be stated in question form. Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court. Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. The Appellant has not stated issues on appeal with respect to any of the trial court's dispositive rulings. Clearly, the trial court never determined that American Southern is entitled to immunity from suit. Likewise, American Southern did not raise any immunity defense in its motion to dismiss.

I. South Carolina law does not allow a direct action against an insurer. Additionally, South Carolina law does not permit a private right of action under the Claims Practices Act or any cause of action for “wrongful adjustment” against an insurer.

The Appellant is the third-party tort claimant who has brought a direct action against the auto liability insurer (SFAA/South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund) and its servicing reinsurer (American Southern).⁴ She alleges that "American Southern provided coverage for Gordan's actions at the time that Gordan injured the plaintiff." *See*, Complaint, ¶ 30. (R. ___). The Appellant further alleges that "American Southern neither paid the claim nor made any effort to make the plaintiff whole." *See*, Complaint, ¶ 20. (R. ___).⁵ She maintains that American Southern "abuse[s] the legal process by forcing people to file lawsuits in cases where lawsuits should not be necessary." *See*, Complaint, ¶ 21. (R. ___). In effect, as the trial court determined, the Appellant is attempting to bring a claim for improper claims handling or the wrongful adjustment of a claim.

In *Trancik v. USAA Ins. Co.*, 354 S.C. 549, 581 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2003), this Court explained that “[u]nder the common law, no privity of contract exists between an injured person and the tortfeasor’s liability insurer, and the injured person has no right of action at law against the insurer.” 581 S.E.2d at 861.

⁴ As noted above, the Insurance Reserve Fund – more specifically the SFAA – was voluntarily dismissed by the Appellant.

⁵ Despite now claiming in her brief that American Southern is not an insurer, the cited allegations from her Complaint state otherwise.

Similarly, in *Thibault v. Cleland*, 294 S.C. 138, 363 S.E.2d 114 (Ct. App. 1987), this Court affirmed the trial court’s grant of a motion to dismiss on a direct action brought against an insurer. This Court explained that “no right to maintain a lawsuit directly against an insurer exists absent privity of contract between the claimant and the insurer, and because direct actions against insurers contravene the common law, such right must be expressly sanctioned by the legislature.” 363 S.E.2d at 115.⁶

Thus, a direct action against an insurer is permitted only if provided for by statute. In a number of cases, the South Carolina appellate courts have ruled that the Claims Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-10 to -50, “does not create a private cause of action.” *Gaskins v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co.*, 343 S.C. 666, 541 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 2000). *See, Swinton v. Chubb & Son, Inc.*, 283 S.C. 11, 320 S.E.2d 495 (Ct. App. 1984) (holding S.C. Code Ann. § 38-37-1110, the predecessor statute, recodified by 1987 Act No. 155, § 1 to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20, did not allow a private cause of action).

Instead, the Claims Practices Act “provides relief for a third party victim of an improper claims practice” but only entitles that third-party claimant to an

⁶ *See, McPherson v. Michigan Mut. Ins. Co.*, 306 S.C. 456, 412 S.E.2d 445, 449 (Ct. App. 1991) (holding the insured clients of an insured party were not in contractual privity with insured’s reinsurance company because they were not a party to the reinsurance contract), *aff’d as modified by*, 310 S.C. 316, 426 S.E.2d 770 (1993) (addressing whether the injured party could sue the tortfeasor’s insurance company, pursuant to the policy, and not addressing whether the insured party could sue the reinsurance company).

administrative remedy with the Department of Insurance. *Gaskins*, 541 S.E.2d at 272. This Court in *Gaskins* therefore affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the cause of action for "wrongful adjustment." Similarly, in *Masterclean, Inc. v. Star Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. 405, 556 S.E.2d 371, 377 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court, relying in part on *Gaskins*, ruled that "[t]hird parties do not have a private right of action under S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20. Instead, third parties are entitled to administrative review before the Chief Insurance Commissioner." 556 S.E.2d at 377.

In her opening brief, the Appellant acknowledges that "[a]s interpreted by South Carolina courts, the Improper Claims Act [sic] does not allow a person injured by a tortfeasor's negligence to sue the insurer of the tortfeasor." *See*, Appellant's Brief, p. 9. Nonetheless, the Appellant "seeks to change the law" and argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 38-59-20 does provide for a private right of action. As discussed above, that is contrary to established precedent from this Court and the Supreme Court. It is well settled that this Court cannot overrule established precedent from the Supreme Court. *See*, S.C. Const. art V, § 9 ("[t]he decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents"); *Freeman v. Freeman*, 323 S.C. 95, 473 S.E.2d 467, 473 (Ct. App. 1996) ("[the Court of Appeals is] bound by the decisions of the South Carolina Supreme Court"); *State v. Cheeks*, 400 S.C. 329, 733 S.E.2d 611, 618 (Ct. App. 2012) ("this court lacks the

authority to rule against prior published precedent from our supreme court, but is bound by the decisions of the supreme court”).

Notwithstanding the fact that this Court must apply existing Supreme Court precedent, there is no valid basis for overruling that existing precedent. In *Swinton, supra*, this Court accurately warned that “wrongful adjustment” claims would result in the courts being “potentially besieged with so called ‘bad faith’ suits in every instance in which or whenever third party claimants, rightly or wrongly, disagreed with adjusters over the handling or settlement of claims against their insureds. Clearly the legislature did not intend such a course.” *Swinton*, 320 S.E.2d at 497. Moreover, in *Kleckley v. Northwestern National Cas. Co.*, 338 S.C. 131, 526 S.E.2d 218 (2000), the Supreme Court recognized as follows:

Furthermore, the South Carolina Claims Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 38-59-10 to -50 (1989 & Supp. 1998) provides an adequate remedy for third parties who have been wronged by improper claims practices. Specifically, section 38-59-20 permits an administrative action before the Chief Insurance Commissioner by third parties for improper claims practices where the insurer: (1) knowingly misrepresents facts or policy provisions relating to coverage or provides deceptive or misleading information with respect to coverage; (2) fails to acknowledge with reasonable promptness pertinent communications with respect to claims arising under its policies; (3) fails to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation of claims; and (4) not attempting in good faith to effect prompt, fair, and equitable settlement of claims. Therefore, the Legislature has specifically provided a remedy for Kleckley to assert as a third party against Northwestern.

526 S.E.2d at 221. Importantly, if the General Assembly had intended to provide for a private right of action for a violation of the Claims Practices Act, it would have done so. As this Court has acknowledged, the recognition of a private right of action is the prerogative of the legislative branch. *See, Palmer v. State of South Carolina*, 427 S.C. 36, 829 S.E.2d 255, 261 (Ct. App. 2019) (recognizing that "it is not for this court to create such an action when the legislature has specifically declined to do so").

In the present case, the Appellant did not specifically alleged a cause of action for bad faith against American Southern, but she does include allegations suggestive of bad faith. In addition to rejecting claims for “wrongful adjustment,” the Supreme Court has also explicitly rejected third-party bad faith claims. In *Kleckley, supra*, the Supreme Court held that “[a] tort action for an insurer's bad faith refusal to pay benefits does not extend to third parties who are not named insureds.” 526 S.E.2d at 219. As the trial court explained in this case, a bad faith claim by a third-party claimant premised on improper claims handling is not viable under South Carolina law.

In sum, the same analysis and reasoning applies to any direct action brought by a third-party tort claimant against an insurer, including the negligence and abuse of process claims alleged by the Appellant. The trial court correctly ruled that the Appellant is barred from asserting a direct claim against American Southern for a

violation of the Claims Practices Act, for "wrongful adjustment," for negligence, or for "abuse of process," regardless of the label actually attached to the claim.

II. Under South Carolina law, a third-party tort claimant lacks standing to sue an insurer for any relief where there is no contractual relationship and the tort claimant had not yet received a judgment against the insured.

As an additional basis for the dismissal of the Appellant's claim against American Southern, the trial court ruled that a third-party tort claimant lacks standing to commence any action seeking any relief -- even a declaratory judgment action which this not -- against an insurer.⁷ In *Park v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America*, 251 S.C. 410, 162 S.E.2d 709 (1968), the Supreme Court ruled that a tort claimant lacks standing to pursue a declaratory judgment action against a liability insurer where there was no contractual relationship and the tort claimant had not yet received a judgment against the insured. The Supreme Court explained:

Counsel for plaintiff argues, with some appeal, that an injured party should have as much right to ask the court to determine the validity of a tortfeasor's liability insurance policy as the insurer or the insured. We think

⁷ The Appellant did not appeal from the trial court's ruling that she lacks standing to bring a direct action against American Southern. As a result, the judgment below may be affirmed by application of the "two-issue" rule. The Supreme Court has explained that "where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case." *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Similarly, in *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1986), this Court held that "[a]n alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal." 348 S.E.2d at 845.

the fallacy of this argument lies in the fact that the injured person is not a party to the contract and has, under the facts of this case, no primary standing to litigate a dispute between the insured and insurer until and unless he establishes liability against [the insured]. Before judgment is obtained on a tort claim, the standing of the parties to the policy and the standing of the injured party are greatly different.

162 S.E.2d at 711. The Supreme Court further explained that "no right to recover can accrue to plaintiff against [the] insurance company until and unless [an insured] becomes liable to pay." 162 S.E.2d at 710. In sum, the Supreme Court affirmed the dismissal of the declaratory judgment action because the plaintiff lacked standing and did not present a justiciable claim.⁸

In the case at bar, the Appellant lacks standing and has not presented any justiciable claim against American Southern. Although the Appellant does not seek declaratory relief, the trial court correctly ruled that the Appellant cannot seek any relief -- declaratory or monetary -- against an insurer in absence of a contractual relationship with the insurer and where the tort claimant has not even obtained a judgment against the insured.

⁸ In *Otterbacher v. Snyder*, 2015 WL 4068204 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015), this Court more recently applied the *Park* decision and vacated a declaratory judgment issued by the circuit court in a declaratory judgment action commenced by an auto accident victim against the alleged tortfeasor's insurance company before the liability of the alleged tortfeasor had been established. Being an unpublished decision, *Otterbacher* cannot be cited as precedent, but it does demonstrate that *Park* is still "good law" and has been applied in recent years by this Court under similar circumstances as present in the case at bar.

III. The Appellant's Complaint does not allege well-pled facts to satisfy the elements for a cause of action of abuse of process by a third-party claimant against an insurer.

As a third basis for dismissing the Appellant's Complaint against American Southern, the trial court ruled that an abuse of process claim cannot be asserted against a third-party insurer because the Appellant "cannot establish that Defendant ASIC caused any process to issue or improperly used process after it had been issued." (Order, p. 3).

"The abuse of process tort provides a remedy for one damaged by another's perversion of a legal procedure for a purpose not intended by the procedure." *Guider v. Churpeyes, Inc.*, 370 S.C. 424, 635 S.E.2d 562, 566 (Ct. App. 2006). A plaintiff alleging abuse of process must prove two essential elements: (1) an ulterior purpose, and (2) a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the conduct of the proceeding." *Hainer v. American Medical International, Inc.*, 328 S.C. 128, 492 S.E.2d 103, 107 (1997). "The focus in an abuse of process action is on the improper use of process after it has been issued." *Rycroft v. Gaddy*, 281 S.C. 119, 314 S.E.2d 39, 43 (Ct. App. 1984).

Based upon the allegations in the Complaint, the trial court concluded that "the Plaintiff cannot establish that Defendant ASIC caused any process to issue or improperly used process after it had been issued." (Order, p. 2). The Appellant complains on appeal that the trial court construed the term process "narrowly" and

cites to several conclusory allegations in her Complaint. Yet, she has not identified any well-pled facts in the Complaint showing that American Southern issued any process or improperly used any process after it was issued. Clearly, an abuse of process does not arise where an insurer refuses to settle a claim prior to suit being filed. Not surprisingly, the Appellant has not cited a single reported decision from South Carolina or any jurisdiction holding to the contrary. On this additional basis, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion and analysis, the Respondent American Southern Insurance Company respectfully requests that the Court affirm the orders issued by Circuit Judge Perry H. Gravely dismissing American Southern as a party-defendant.